## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HAAS TRUCKING, INC.

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

CAUSE NO.: 2009-TS-00373

HANCOCK COUNTY SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY; and HANCOCK COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

**APPELLEES** 

BRIEF OF APPELLANT HAAS TRUCKING APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

R. Hayes Johnson, Jr.\*

JOHNSON LAW PRACTICE, PLLC
P.O. Box 717

Long Beach, MS 39560

2462 Pass Road

Biloxi, MS 39531

228.388.9316-office

228.388.4433-facsimile

rhayesj@aol.com

\*Also admitted in AL, AR, FL

### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Counsel certifies the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this case:

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE HANCOCK COUNTY SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY FAILED TO FOLLOW STATUTORY AND REGULATORY GUIDELINES WHEN AMENDING ITS SOLID WASTE PLAN.
- II. WHETHER A MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY STAFF MEMBER'S APPARENT REJECTION OF A COUNTY'S SOLID WASTE PLAN AMENDMENT WITHOUT COMMISSION OVERSIGHT WAS AN UNAUTHORIZED EXERCISE OF ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION-MAKING AUTHORITY.
- III. WHETHER THE HANCOCK COUNTY AUTHORITY'S DECISION TO REVISE AN EARLIER SOLID WASTE PLAN AMENDMENT WAS BARRED BY ADMINISTRATIVE RES JUDICATA IN THE ABSENCE OF MATERIAL CHANGES IN CIRCUMSTANCE.
- IV. WHETHER THE AUTHORITY'S DECISION TO EXCLUDE HAAS TRUCKING, INC., FROM A REVISED PROPOSED SOLID WASTE AMENDMENT WAS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS, ILLEGAL OR NOT BASED ON SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

### BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF HAAS TRUCKING, INC.'S APPEAL

COME NOW YOUR APPELLANTS, Haas Trucking, Inc., (hereinafter "the Appellants"), through counsel, who submit this Brief in Support of Haas Trucking, Inc.'s Appeal:

## V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 1. This is an appeal by Haas Trucking, Inc., (hereinafter "Appellant"), of a final decision by the Hancock County Solid Waste Authority, ("the Authority"), on Aug. 21, 2007, and a subsequent decision of the Hancock County Circuit Court affirming the Authority.
- On Aug. 30, 2007, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal and Bill of Exceptions in the Hancock County Circuit Court. R.E. 1.
- 3. On Nov. 20, 2008, the matter was heard by Hon. Lawrence P. Bourgeois, Jr., in the Hancock County Circuit Court.
- 4. After post-hearing briefs were filed by Appellant, Appellee and amicus curiae, the circuit court issued an opinion on Feb. 6, 2009, filed Feb. 9, 2009, affirming the Authority. R.E. 2-3.
- 5. On March 6, 2009, Haas Trucking, Inc., through counsel, filed a Notice of Appeal and Designation of the Record, appealing the matter to the Mississippi Supreme Court. R.E. 1.
- 6. Accompanying this brief under separate cover are the following record excerpts (referred to herein as "R.E.\_\_\_\_"), all of which are incorporated herein:
  - a. Trial court docket, R.E. 1;
  - b. Opinion of the Hancock County Circuit Court, R.E. 2-3;
  - c. Resolution of the Hancock County Solid Waste Authority, R.E. 4-5;
  - d. Optional record excerpts; R.E. 6-135.
- 7. Statutes and rules cited herein are appended to the brief as Appendix "A."

8. This brief also is being submitted on disk, in Word Perfect 12. The disk also contains a scanned copy of the entire record maintained by the Hancock County Circuit Clerk, numbered Haas00001 to Haas01170; pages 00001-00230 represent the court file; pages 00231 to 01170 are the complete record submitted by the Solid Waste Authority, in the order submitted.

## VI. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

- 9. In December, 2006, the Hancock County Solid Waste Authority submitted to the Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality ("MDEQ") a proposed Amendment #6 to Hancock County's 20-year solid waste plan. R.E. 6-29.
- 10. The proposed amendment was the culmination of intense study and public commentary following the devastation of Hurricane Katrina. It was the subject of a public hearing on Nov. 1, 2006, in Hancock County. R.E. 30-51.
- The plan amendment process was coordinated by Hancock County's consulting engineers,
   Compton Engineering, Inc. R.E. 6, 12.
- 12. Katrina's vast destruction had exposed a need for additional waste capacity across the Gulf Coast, including Hancock County, and the Hancock County Solid Waste Authority set out to amend its plan to accommodate post-Katrina growth, and any future disasters. R.E. 28-29.
- 13. After study and review, the waste authority adopted Compton's recommendation to designate eight (8) new waste dumps in Hancock County for Class I certification. R.E. 13.
- 14. (Class I is the state designation for waste dumps that are approved to receive construction and demolition debris, and other heavy waste. *See* Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality Regulation #SW-2, § 2 (defining Class I and Class II dumps), <a href="http://www.deq.state.ms.us/newweb/MDEQRegulations.nsf?OpenDatabase">http://www.deq.state.ms.us/newweb/MDEQRegulations.nsf?OpenDatabase</a>. App. "A.")

- 15. Your appellant, Haas Trucking, Inc., owns one of the sites that was designated by the county for Class I certification. R.E. 17, 21, 27, 32.
- 16. The solid waste plan was submitted to the state environmental regulatory agency, as provided by law, for approval. R.E. 6.
- 17. On Feb. 26, 2007, a staff member for the MDEQ wrote to the Hancock authority, ostensibly rejecting the county's waste plan amendment. R.E. 52-53.
- 18. The primary reason offered for rejecting the Hancock plan was the MDEQ staff's belief that the Hancock plan "fails to support the need for 8 new, class I rubbish disposal sites in Hancock County." *Id.*
- 19. Accordingly, the MDEQ staff requested the Hancock waste officials to "re-evaluate the local solid waste capacity needs..." *Id.*
- 20. MDEQ offered the services of an engineering firm, Neel-Schaffer, retained by the state after Katrina to evaluate solid waste needs across the Gulf Coast. Id.
- 21. MDEQ later provided detailed instructions on areas it believed Hancock County should focus when re-evaluating the waste plan. R.E. 54-58.
- 22. At no time did the Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality, ("MCEQ"), address the 2006 Hancock County plan amendment, despite statutes and agency rules requiring the Commission to rule on such matters. Deficiencies in waste plans must be cited by the Commission its in orders approving, conditionally approving, or rejecting submitted plans.

  See, e.g., MCEQ Regulation #SW-1, §IV, available at <a href="http://www.deq.state.ms.us/newweb/MDEQRegulationsnsf?OpenDatabase">http://www.deq.state.ms.us/newweb/MDEQRegulationsnsf?OpenDatabase</a>; accord Miss. Code Ann. §17-17-227 (as amended). App. "A."
- 23. In response to the MDEQ staff directive, the Hancock County Authority abandoned its

- original plan, accepted the services of the state's engineering firm, and started over.
- 24. On Aug. 21, 2007, the Hancock County Solid Waste Authority voted 3-2 to submit a new plan amendment containing just one (1) additional proposed Class I site for Hancock County.

  R.E. 4-5; 100-104.
- 25. That vote followed a review process wherein the Neel-Schaffer engineers recommended three (3) proposed sites to the county authority, none of which was owned by the Appellant, Haas Trucking, Inc. (One of the sites was already in operation as a Class I facility.) R.E. 77-96; 105-129.
- 26. In turn, the Authority, after failing to get enough votes to reject the engineering firm's report altogether, R.E. 97-99, or to accept it in full, R.E. 100-104, voted to add one (1) new proposed Class I site to its long-term plan. R.E. 100-104.
- 27. The Authority adopted a resolution in support of the amendment. R.E. 4-5.
- 28. The revamped solid waste plan amendment was resubmitted to the state. R.E. 131-135.
- 29. Between December, 2006, when the first plan amendment was submitted, and August, 2007, when the second amendment was adopted, no material changes occurred in Hancock County with regard to solid waste or to Haas Trucking, Inc.
- 30. Haas Trucking, Inc., timely filed a bill of exceptions and, subsequently, this appeal. R. 1.

## VII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

31. The Authority acted outside the statutory and regulatory guidelines when it responded to an MDEQ staff letter by throwing out the county's months-long solid waste plan review and starting over. The staff member had no authority to reject the county's plan, and it was unreasonable for the county to accept such direction without an order from MCEQ. The Commission, not its staff, has exclusive authority to approve, disapprove or critique county

- solid waste plans. By not following the law and regulations, both the county and MDEQ were wrong.
- 32. Res judicata barred the Authority from reopening its solid waste plan amendment unless a material change in circumstances occurred. Since no order was issued by the Commission, there was no change in circumstances. Therefore, the agency had no legal authority to take a second vote on its list of recommended solid waste sites or to drop Haas Trucking, Inc., from the list as the whole matter was "non-justiciable."
- 33. Even assuming that the Authority and MDEQ acted within their power, the removal of Haas Trucking, Inc., from the second proposed amended solid waste plan was not based on substantial evidence, and was arbitrary and capricious.

## VIII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

- 34. This is an appeal from an administrative agency decision.
- 35. The standard for review is that "[m]atters of law will be reviewed de novo, with great deference afforded an administrative agency's construction of its own rules and regulations and the statutes under which it operates." *McDerment v. Miss. Real Estate Comm'n*, 748 So. 2d 114, 118 (Miss. 1999) (internal citations omitted).
- 36. "However, where an agency's interpretation is contrary to the unambiguous terms or best reading of a statutory provision, the agency is not entitled to deference." Sierra Club v. Miss. Env. Quality Permit Bd., 943 So. 2d 673, 679 (Miss. 2006); Miss. Gaming Comm'n v. Imperial Palace of Miss., Inc., 751 So. 2d 1025, 1029 (Miss. 1999).
- 37. "[A]n agency's decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a finding that it (1) was not supported by substantial evidence, (2) was arbitrary or capricious, (3) was beyond the power of the administrative agency to make, or (4) violated some statutory or constitutional right

- of the complaining party." *McDerment v. Miss. Real Estate Comm'n*, 748 So. 2d 114, 118 (Miss. 1999) (internal citations omitted); *Sierra Club v. Miss. Env. Quality Permit Bd.*, 943 So. 2d 673, 679 (Miss. 2006).
- 38. "Substantial evidence means something more than a 'mere scintilla' or suspicion." *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Marquez*, 774 So. 2d 421, 425 (Miss. 2000) (internal citations omitted). "Substantial evidence has further been defined by this Court as 'such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Id.* (internal citations omitted).
- 39. At the same time, "[s]ubstantial evidence is 'something less than a preponderance of the evidence.... The reviewing court is concerned only with the reasonableness of the administrative order, not its correctness." Sierra Club v. Miss. Env. Quality Permit Bd., 943

  So. 2d 673, 678 (Miss. 2006) (quoting Miss. Dep't of Envtl. Quality v. Weems, 653 So.2d 266, 280-81 (Miss. 1995) (internal citations omitted)).
- 40. "We have held that an agency must clearly explain its factfinding and reasoning for a decision in order to facilitate review by the courts. Conclusory remarks alone do not equip a court to review the agency's findings. Accordingly, findings on factual issues must be specific enough for the reviewing court to determine whether the decision is supported by substantial evidence." Sierra Club v. Miss. Env. Quality Permit Bd., 943 So. 2d 673, 681 (Miss. 2006) (internal citations omitted).
- 41. The appellate court "must look at the full record before it in deciding whether the agency's findings were supported by substantial evidence. While the circuit court performs limited appellate review, 'it is not relegated to wearing blinders.'" *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Marquez*, 774 So. 2d 421, 427 (Miss. 2000) (internal citations omitted).

- 42. Anticipating appellate review, "administrators [must] say at least minimally why they do what they do so someone can see whether it be arbitrary or capricious." *McGowan v. Miss. State Oil & Gas Bd.*, 604 So. 2d 312, 322 (Miss. 1992). In *McGowan*, this Court knew an agency rejected a permit for wells, "but we are not sure why." *Id.* at 323. Accordingly, the Court vacated the agency's order because of inadequate findings.
- 43. "An action 'is arbitrary or capricious if the agency entirely failed to consider an important aspect of the problem, or offered an explanation for its decision that runs counter to the evidence before the agency or is so implausible that it could not be ascribed to a difference in view or the product of agency expertise." Sierra Club v. Miss. Envtl. Quality Permit Bd., 943 So. 2d 673, 678 (Miss. 2006) (quoting Miss. Dep't of Envtl. Quality v. Weems, 653 So. 2d 266, 281) (internal citations omitted)).
- 44. The "failure of an agency to abide by its rules is per se arbitrary and capricious as is the failure of an administrative body to conform to prior procedure without adequate explanation for the change." Miss. Dep't of Envtl. Quality v. Weems, 653 So.2d 266, 281 (Miss. 1995) (quoting 2 AmJur2d § 530 at 519 (1994)).
- 45. "If an administrative agency's decision is not based on substantial evidence, it necessarily follows that the decision is arbitrary and capricious." *Public Employees' Retirement System*v. Marquez, 774 So. 2d 421, 430 (Miss. 2000) (internal citations omitted).
- 46. However, "[a] rebuttable presumption exists in favor of agency decisions, and this Court may not substitute its own judgment for that of the agency." Sierra Club v. Miss. Envtl. Quality Permit Bd., 943 So. 2d 673, 678 (Miss. 2006) (quoting Miss. Comm'n on Envtl. Quality v. Chickasaw County Bd. of Supervisors, 621 So.2d 1211, 1216 (Miss. 1993)).

### IX. ARGUMENT

47. Even though the standard of review is highly deferential, the Court should reverse the action of the Authority for one or more of the following reasons:

## A. The Authority's Decision Did Not Follow Statutory Procedure

- 48. Only the Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality, not its staff, is empowered to accept or reject proposed solid waste plan amendments from regional authorities.
- 49. When an MDEQ staff member informed Hancock County that its plan was unacceptable, that person was acting outside the boundaries of statutory and regulatory law.
- 50. By acting on the MDEQ staffer's instructions, the Authority also stepped outside legal guidelines.
- 51. Accordingly, the Authority's decision to drop Haas Trucking, Inc., from the previous solid waste plan amendment was not supported by the evidence or the law, and was arbitrary and capricious.
- 52. In adopting and submitting its Plan Amendment in December, 2006, the Authority was complying with Miss. Code Ann. §17-17-227, which requires each county to prepare, adopt and submit "to the commission for review and approval" a local nonhazardous solid waste management plan. Miss. Code Ann. §17-17-227(1), (6) (emphasis added). App. "A."
- Once received, state law requires the commission, "by order," to approve or disapprove the plan within 180 days. Miss. Code Ann. §17-17-227(6) (emphasis added). App. "A." If the commission disapproves a plan, the commission must include in its order "a statement outlining the deficiencies in the plan" and directing the county to prepare a revised plan within 120 days. *Id*.
- 54. The Commission's own rules track state law, requiring the Commission to approve,

- conditionally approve, or disapprove any plan submitted by a county waste authority. MCEQ Regulation #SW-1, §IV, available at <a href="http://www.deq.state.ms.us/newweb/MDEQ">http://www.deq.state.ms.us/newweb/MDEQ</a>
  Regulations.nsf?OpenDatabase. App. "A."
- 55. Here, after Hancock County submitted its proposed plan, the Commission never issued any order.
- 56. Instead, the MDEQ staff rejected the plan on its own and notified Hancock County that the staff believed the county's plan was flawed and needed revision. R.E. 52-58.
- 57. The primary complaint from the MDEQ staff was Hancock County's inclusion of eight (8) new, class 1 rubbish disposal sites in the county, and the staff's belief that Hancock County had overestimated its future solid waste needs. *Id*.
- 58. Without an order by the commission setting out the alleged shortcomings, the MDEQ staff had no authority to direct Hancock County to revise the plan, nor did Hancock County have any legitimate basis to reopen its solid waste plan.
- 59. Accordingly, there was no statutory or regulatory basis for the Hancock County Authority to revamp the plan and drop all but one (1) of the newly recommended waste facilities. In doing so, the Authority embarked on action that was not supported by law or procedure, and therefore arbitrary, capricious and not supported by substantial evidence.
- 60. The proper course was for Hancock County to await MCEQ review of its plan, and to act only after an order was issued by the Commission. Miss. Code Ann. §17-17-227. Had deficiencies been noted by the Commission including, ostensibly, concerns regarding number of sites or future solid waste needs then Hancock County would have been required by statute and rule to address those purported deficiencies.
- 61. It is clear, however, that the Hancock County Solid Waste Authority was under the

- impression that it was bound to take the actions set out by MDEQ in its "rejection" of the waste plan.
- 62. For example, in the project narrative produced by the Authority in support of its second amended plan and submitted as part of the record in this appeal the Authority or its agents<sup>1</sup> explained the effort to revise the plan as follows:
  - a. "[T]he initial Plan ... failed to support the need for eight new Class I Rubbish Sites."R.E. 131.
  - b. "The review of **MDEQ** required that the Authority re-evaluate the local solid waste capacity...." *Id*.
  - c. "[S]ince MDEQ commented that the need for eight sites is not documented, the project approach included an initiative to reduce the number of sites...." Id.
     (Emphasis added).
- 63. Taking these official descriptions at face value, it is obvious that the Hancock officials thought they received marching orders from the state to start over with their solid waste review, and to reduce the number of sites.
- 64. Hancock County did just that even acknowledging that it set out to "reduce the number of sites," R.E. 131 and the Appellant was damaged as a result.
- 65. Even if the Authority's actions were based on the belief that such marching orders had the force of law, that belief was wrong. Accordingly, no deference is due.
- 66. On this issue, the instant case is reminiscent of Miss. Dep't of Envtl. Quality v. Weems, 653

  So. 2d 266 (Miss. 1995). In that case, the MDEQ executive director wrote letters in response

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Though not autographed, the narrative seems likely to have been authored by the state's engineering firm, Neel-Schaffer.

to a request for legal guidance regarding a solid waste permit. This Court noted with approval that the chancellor in *Weems* rejected the MDEQ official's letters, holding that "[t]he Commission 'does not speak, nor set policy, through the letters of its Executive Director. It can only speak through its own official action.' " *Id.* at 272."

- 67. An underlying issue in *Weems* was the trial court's finding that the Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality had failed to abide by a statute requiring the Commission to adopt certain rules and procedures. *Id.* at 279.
- 68. This Court agreed, commenting that "[b]y not considering or acting within the confines of the statute," the Commission had left the plaintiff (Weems) in a "useless forum." Id. at 281.

  The Court held that MDEQ had been arbitrary and capricious, and the case was remanded to administrative agencies for further action. Id.
- 69. Weems parallels the instant case. Here, an MDEQ staff member without "official action" by the Commission and outside the "confines of the statute" wrote two letters to the Hancock County Solid Waste Authority setting out policy of the state agency. R.E. 52-58.
- 70. If the MCEQ does not speak through opinion letters from its executive director, *id.* at 272, then it certainly cannot speak through the letters of a staff member.
- 71. This is especially so when the content of the letters relates directly to MCEQ's compliance with, and administration of, its statutory and regulatory duties regarding solid waste management in this state.
- 72. Statutes and agency rules govern the Commission's approval or disapproval of solid waste plans, as noted *supra*. By "not acting within the confines of the statute," *id.* at 281, MCEQ's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This phrase was a partial reference to the issue of exhaustion of administrative remedies, which was an issue in *Weems* but not here.

- actions with regard to the Hancock County Authority solid waste plan amendment were "per se arbitrary and capricious...." *Id.* at 281.
- 73. A difference here from *Weems* is that the ultimate decision-maker was/is the Hancock County Authority, not MCEQ. But the Authority also is bound by the same statutory guidelines; its reliance on unofficial actions of MDEQ should be given no more deference than that afforded the agency in *Weems*.

## B. The Decision Was Barred by the Doctrine of Res Judicata.

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