IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HAAS TRUCKING, INC.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NUMBER: 2009-TS-00373

HANCOCK COUNTY SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

Ronald J. Artigues, Jr.,
Patrick W. Kirby,
Butler, Snow, O'Mara, Stevens & Cannada, PLLC
833 Highway 90, Suite 1
Bay St. Louis, Mississippi 39530
Telephone: (228) 467-5426
Facsimile: (228) 467-3258

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HAAS TRUCKING, INC.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NUMBER: 2009-TS-00373

7007-10-00373

HANCOCK COUNTY SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY

APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Authority's decision to revise proposed Plan Amendment #6 to its Solid Waste Management Plan was supported by substantial evidence, including the fact that the King Site is accessible from major transportation corridors, has existing capacity, is located in the southern part of the County near centers of waste generation, and is conveniently located for citizens, business and industry. The Authority's decision was neither arbitrary nor capricious, nor was it contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. On the contrary, the evidence before the Board, including evidence provided by professional engineers experienced in assessing solid waste needs, supported the Board's decision to revise proposed Plan Amendment #6 to Hancock County's Solid Waste Management Plan.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

The standard of review applicable to the case *sub judice* is a deferential one as to the Authority's factual findings as to necessary Class I rubbish sites. In fact, the well established test requires affirmance of the Authority's factual determinations if they were deemed to be based upon substantial evidence, since the instant case addresses an appeal from an administrative agency. *Wilkinson County Board of Supervisors v. Quality Farms, Inc.*, 767 So.2d 1007, 1010 (Miss. 2000) (citing *Barnes v. Board of Supervisors*, 553 So.2d 508, 511 (Miss. 1989)). Thus, "[t]he decision of an administrative agency is not to be disturbed unless the agency order was unsupported by substantial evidence; was arbitrary or capricious; was beyond the agency's scope or powers; or violated the constitutional or statutory rights of the aggrieved party." *Id.* (quoting *Board of Law Enforcement Officers Standards & Training v. Butler*, 672 So.2d 1196, 1199 (Miss. 1996)). See also *Hooks v. George County*, 748 So.2d 678, 680 (Miss. 1999). By law in Mississippi, a decision that is "fairly debatable" is not arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal or unsupported by substantial evidence. *Gillis v. City of McComb*, 860 So. 2d 833, 836 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). In fact, "fairly debatable" is the antithesis of arbitrary and capricious. *Saunders v. City of Jackson*, 511 So. 2d 902, 906 (Miss. 1987).

In reviewing a decision by local governing authorities, a court must treat the Board "as untethered and free when using 'their own common knowledge and familiarity' in the disputed matter, in addition to the testimony and debate provided at the hearing." *Mayor and Board of Aldermen v. Hudson*, 744 So. 2d 448, 451 (Miss. App. Ct. 2000) (quoting *Faircloth v. Lyles*, 592 So. 2d 941, 943 (Miss. 1991)). An appellate court cannot re-weigh the facts, or substitute its judgment for that of the administrative agency. *Mississippi Comm'n on Envil. Quality v. Chickasaw County Board of Supervisors*, 621 So. 2d 1211, 1216 (Miss. 1993). An appellate

court will not reverse a Board's decision as long as the record of the proceedings contains sufficient evidence to support that decision. *Citizens Ass'n for Responsible Development, Inc. v. Conrad Yelvington Distributors, Inc.*, 859 So. 2d 361, 367 (Miss. 2003) (citing *Faircloth*, 592 So .2d at 945).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has also held that the scope of this Court's appellate review is limited to an examination of the record to determine whether credible evidence exists to support the decision of the governing body. City of Jackson v. Froshour, 530 So.2d 1348, 1354-55 (Miss. 1988); City of Meridian v. Johnson, 593 So. 2d 35, 38 (Miss. 1992); City of Meridian v. Hill, 447 So. 2d 641, 643-44 (Miss. 1984); City of Jackson Police Dept. v. Ruddick, 243 So.2d 566, 567 (Miss. 1971); City of Hattiesburg v. Jackson, 108 So. 2d 596, 599 (Miss. 1959); City of Meridian v. Davidson, 53 So. 2d 48, 52-54, 60 (Miss. 1951). The evidence that must underlie an agency's findings may be "something less than a preponderance" but it is "more than a scintilla or glimmer." Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality v. Weems, 653 So. 2d 266, 280-81 (Miss. 1993). An appeal from the local governing body by way of bill of exceptions is an appeal to an appellate court, and the circuit court is bound by the record made before the Board, or other authority. Thornton v. Wayne County Election Commission, 272 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss. 1973). See also Stewart v. City of Pascagoula, 206 So.2d 325 (Miss. 1968).

The action of a Board carries a presumption of validity, casting the burden of proof upon the individual or other entity asserting its invalidity. *Faircloth*, 592 So .2d at 943. Therefore, a rebuttable presumption exists in favor of the administrative agency's decision, and the burden of proof to show otherwise is on the party challenging that decision. *Id* at 945.

B. The Authority's decision DID follow statutory procedure.

Haas' argument that the Authority's decision did not follow statutory procedure is without merit. The facts are clear that the Authority submitted its proposed Plan Amendment #6 to the MDEQ as required by state law and the agency's own Evaluation Criteria and Guidance for Modifying a Local Solid Wast Management Plan established pursuant to statute. Haas argues that the MDEQ "acted outside of the boundaries of statutory and regulatory law" when it reviewed the proposed Plan Amendment #6 submitted by the Authority and when MDEQ, through its staff, wrote to the Authority requesting that the Authority re-evaluate the determination of need as to the number of Class I rubbish sites proposed in the plan amendment. Contrary to Haas' argument, MDEQ's review of the proposal and subsequent request to the Authority is exactly what is contemplated by the statutory and regulatory law pertinent to this matter.

State law governing the Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality ("MCEQ") found at Miss. Code Ann. § 17-17-225 mandates that the MCEQ "shall establish criteria for the evaluation of local non-hazardous solid waste management plans." (emphasis added). In compliance with this statute, the MCEQ established its "Evaluation Criteria For Local Solid Waste Management Plans" ("Evaluation Criteria") which became effective on July 1, 1992, and were subsequently amended on December 16, 2004. The Commission further published its Guidance for Modifying a Local Solid Wast Management Plan ("Guidance") effective September 2006. A copy of the Evaluation Criteria and Guidance is attached hereto as Appendix "A" along with Mississippi Commission of Environmental Quality MCEQ-1: Regulations Regarding the Delegation of Authority from MCEQ to MDEQ.

The *Guidance* requires that, "Once approved by resolution, the local government should submit a formal request to the Department to modify the local plan." See *Guidance* at Step 5.

Among other requirements, the *Evaluation Criteria* require that the requested Plan amendment include a "demonstration of need." See *Evaluation Criteria*. The *Guidance* is clear that the proposed Plan Amendment must be submitted to the Department, not to the Commission. The Authority's proposed Plan Amendment #6 was submitted to MDEQ as required.

It is at this point that Haas would have the Department merely accept the proposed Plan Amendment from the Authority, shuttle it down the hall and place it before the MCEQ for decision. However, the statutory and regulatory law requires the Department, again, not the MCEQ, to review and evaluate the proposed Plan Amendment. Step 6 of the Guidance, aptly titled "Department Review and Request for Hearing", requires the Department to "review the submitted request" and its "supporting documents." It is this review by the Department, mandated by the Guidance, that prompted the February 26, 2007, correspondence from MDEQ to the Authority "requesting that the Authority re-evaluate the local solid waste capacity needs." (R.E. 52 - 53.) The Department's review determined that the Authority's request for plan modification was not complete in several aspects, including the "determination of need" requirement. This review and determination by the MDEQ that the Authority's request was incomplete is exactly what the pertinent statute, the Evaluation Criteria and the Guidance require. See Guidance at Step 6. In addition, Miss. Code Ann. § 49-2-13(j) specifically authorizes the MDEQ, through its executive director, to issue orders in accordance with Miss. Code Ann § 17-17-227. See Regulation MCEO-1. The February 26, 2007, letter from the MDEQ further offered the Authority the assistance of the Neel-Schaffer Engineering Firm which could perform an independent technical review of the County's solid waste needs to assist the Authority in this matter. (R.E. 52 - 53.) On March 6, 2007, MDEO again wrote to the Authority outlining the technical deficiencies contained in its proposed Plan Amendment #6. (R.E. 54 – 58.) In response to MDEQ's letters, the Authority voted to "request technical assistance from

MDEQ under its contract with Neel-Schaffer." (R.E. 60.) Contrary to Haas' argument that the MDEQ or its staff acted outside of the scope of statutory and regulatory law, the action of MDEQ in reviewing the proposal of the Authority and recommending that it correct the noted deficiencies in the proposed plan amendment is in perfect compliance with both the letter and spirit of statutory and regulatory law pertinent to the evaluation of local non hazardous solid waste management plans in Mississippi. Therefore, Haas' assignment of error in this regard is without merit.

It is important to note that Haas' criticism of this process is that MDEQ/MCEQ did not follow statutory and regulatory procedure. However, the actions of MDEQ/MCEQ are not under review in this matter. Neither MCEQ nor MDEQ have been made parties to this action. The issue before this Court is whether the decision of the Authority to revise proposed Plan Amendment #6, affirmed by the Circuit Court of Hancock County, was unsupported by substantial evidence; was arbitrary or capricious; was beyond the agency's scope or powers; or violated the constitutional or statutory rights of the aggrieved party. Wilkinson County Board of Supervisors v. Quality Farms, Inc., 767 So.2d 1007, 1010 (Miss. 2000). Haas' argument that the Authority's decision to revise proposed Plan Amendment #6 did not follow statutory procedure is without merit.

C. The Authority's decision was not barred by res judicata.

Next, Haas argues that the decision of the Authority to revise its proposed Plan Amendment #6 was barred by *res judicata*. The Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly stated that

The common law doctrine of res judicata, including the subsidiary one of collateral estoppel, is designed to prevent the relitigation by the same parties of the same claims or issues. The reasons behind the doctrine, as developed in the courts, are fully applicable to some administrative proceedings, partially applicable to some, and not at all applicable to others. The doctrine is best applied to an adjudication of past facts. (emphasis supplied).

City of Jackson v. Holliday, 149 So. 2d 525, 527 (1963). While the Authority acknowledges that the doctrine of res judicata applies to some administrative proceedings, the submission of a proposed Plan Amendment to MDEQ/MCEQ is not a final decision nor an adjudication of past facts to which the doctrine can properly be applied. Res judicata and collateral estoppel apply only where an administrative agency, acting in a fact finding capacity, makes a ruling, usually in the form of an order adjudicating the rights of at least two parties. Davis v. Attorney General, 935 So. 2d 856, 864 (2006); Hood v. Miss. Dept. of Wildlife Consv., 571 So. 2d 263, 269, fn.5. (1990). In this matter, the Authority accepted applications, including that of the Appellant, Haas Trucking, Inc. The Authority then retained the services of Compton Engineering, Inc. to review the applications and prepare a proposed Plan Amendment #6 to the Hancock County Solid Waste Management Plan. The Authority was not acting in a fact finding capacity and no facts were adjudicated. The Authority then submitted its proposed Plan Amendment #6 to MDEQ for approval according to law. No ruling or final order was issued by the Authority. The Authority simply authorized submission of the proposal to MDEQ. The proposal of a Solid Waste Plan Amendment is in the nature of a legislative, and not an adjudicative, action of an administrative body. Such actions have general applicability and do not serve to adjudicate individual rights. The Appellant misconstrues the type of administrative action involved in this case and, therefore, has misapplied the doctrine of res judicata to it.

Haas has produced no authority to suggest that the ratification of a proposed Plan Amendment by the Authority for submission to and approval of MDEQ/MCEQ is an adjudication of fact or final decision of the Authority. To the contrary, the applicable statutory law is abundantly clear that any solid waste plan is subject to approval by MCEQ. Any such plan is not final in its jurisdiction until the plan is approved. As Haas pointed out in its Trial Court brief, "State law provides that any local solid waste plan must be approved by the

Commission on Environmental Quality prior to becoming effective for the jurisdiction for which it was adopted." Miss. Code Ann. § 17-17-227(6). Because the proposed Plan Amendment that included the Haas Site was never approved by MCEQ, it never became effective in this jurisdiction. *Res Judicata* cannot attach to an order that never became effective in the jurisdiction for which it was adopted. As such, this assignment of error has no merit.

In Rankin Utility Co. v. Mississippi Public Service Commission, 585 So. 2d 705 (1991), the Court recognized the limitations of the doctrine of res judicata in matters such as this. In that case, the Court held that because the PSC has continuous jurisdiction over the utility rates and can enter an order rescinding or amending a prior decision, res judicata is inapplicable. Likewise in this matter, because the proposed Plan Amendment #6 was subject to the review and approval of MDEQ/MCEQ, res judicata is inapplicable. The applicable law, Miss. Code Ann. § 17 – 17-227, allows the MCEQ to approve, disapprove or order revisions to any proposed plan. As such, res judicata cannot attach to a proposal that can be approved, disapproved or modified by a higher authority. Haas' assertion that the initial proposed Plan Amendment #6 attained the status of an adjudication of facts is without merit.

D. The Authority's decision was supported by substantial evidence.

It cannot be disputed that the Authority's decision to revise proposed Plan Amendment #6 was based on the following evidence set out in the Authority's minutes: 1) accessibility of the King Site from major transportation corridors and its existing capacity for growth, as needed; 2) location of the site in the southern part of the County which is near the centers of waste generation; 3) the convenient location of the site for citizens, business and industry, and 4) the presence of land area of approximately 380 acres for expansion and accommodation of other solid waste activities, etc. (R.E. 103). The Authority further based its action on "all of the factors included in the written report of Neel-Schaffer which is part of the Authority's minutes

from a prior meeting; the two verbal presentations to the Authority by Neel-Schaffer at prior meetings; and the questions and answers provided during the discussion period by MDEQ at this meeting." (R.E. 103).

The standard of review to be applied to the Authority's action here is deferential and boils down to a single issue: whether the Authority's decision was supported by substantial evidence. Wilkinson County Board of Supervisors, 767 So.2d at 1010 (Miss. 2000). An appellate court cannot re-weigh the facts, or substitute its judgment for that of the agency. Mississippi Comm'n on Envtl. Quality, 621 So. 2d at 1216 (Miss. 1993). An appellate court will not reverse a Board's decision as long as the record of the proceedings contains sufficient evidence to support the decision. Citizens Ass'n for Responsible Development, Inc., 859 So. 2d at 367 (Miss. 2003). As such, the bottom line question is, "Was the Authority's decision to revise proposed Plan Amendment #6 supported by substantial evidence?" The answer to that question must be a resounding "Yes."

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